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Set among shade trees on several acres of flat lawn, the Female Dormitory
of Bethany Institute faces north to the graveled road that once was the primary
route between Centreville and Liberty, Mississippi. The setting, an area of
forest and fields, retains its rural quality.

The dormitory is an unpainted frame building, five bays across and two
bays deep (55' x 33'). It is set on low brick piers and is covered by a hip
roof. The roof, sheathed with galvanized sheet metal, is pierced by two off-
center brick chimneys with sawtooth brick caps. Each clapboarded elevation is
edged with a box cornice and plain corner boards. The regularly arranged window
openings are filled with six-over-six sash and are trimmed with plain board sur-
rounds. Plain boards also trim the front (north) entrance, where a double-leaf
paneled door is flanked by rectangular lights and panels, the whole surmounted
by a large rectangular transom. Broad concrete steps lead from a running-bond
brick walk up to the door.

The front door opens onto a wide center hall, on each side of which are two
rooms, the smaller to the rear. From the back of the hall, an open straight flight
of stairs with turned balusters, turned base, and corner newels rises against the
east wall to the identically arranged second floor. On one side of the back-to-
back fireplaces, in each room, is a closet fitted with three tiers of boards with
pegs for hanging clothes. The simple interior trim consists of plain board casings
and bases, unmolded doors with four sunk or sunk and fielded panels, and eight-
identical pilaster mantelpieces with molding beneath the shelves. The walls and
ceilings are covered with sand-finish plaster in the hall and with smooth plaster
in the upper rooms. The northeast upper room retains its original white oil paint
on the plaster, the doors, and the windows and the original gray oil paint on the
bases and the mantelpiece.

Changes to the original fabric of the building have not seriously affected
its integrity, especially on the second floor, where the rooms remain almost in
their original state. At some time before 1972, the plaster in the lower back
rooms was replaced with matched boards. Since 1972, the plaster in the lower
front rooms has been replaced with wallboard panels with wainscoting and chair
rails; a kitchen has been installed in the southeast lower room; and a bath
has been placed in the closet of the southwest lower room. In 1974, a porch
terminated by a utility room was attached at right angles to the center of the
back wall of the house, on the site of and following the basic dimensions of
the original one-story frame kitchen and dining wing, which stood into the twen-
tieth century. This original wing was connected to the main block by a covered
breezeway. Cuts and changes in the siding on this wall, along with three sets
of stucco-over-brick steps original to the wing, define the height, width, and
roof pitch of the wing.

The present barn was constructed to the southwest of the dormitory during
the twentieth century. It is constructed of previously used materials, including
beaded board and batten doors hung with iron hinges with pins cast in place, which
may have come from the nonextant school buildings (the male dormitory destroyed
by tornado in 1934 or the frame school house).
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Female Dormitory is the only surviving building of Bethany Institute,
a locally important church-affiliated boarding school dating from the second
half of the nineteenth century, and it is one of only a few pre-Civil-War
buildings remaining in a once thickly populated community which developed
around Bethany Presbyterian Church in the "thickwoods country" of Amite County,
Mississippi.

On June 11, 1859, the elders of Bethany Presbyterian Church formed a new
school, in ecclesiastical connection with the Louisiana Presbytery, to be known
as Bethany Institute, and constituted themselves and their successors in the
office of elder as the trustees of the new organization. Despite the fact that
the school received its charter from the state of Mississippi on April 7, 1860,
under the name of the "Bethany Male and Female Institute," the trustees reverted
to the name "Bethany Institute" in their revised constitution adopted on July
17, 1860.

On June 22, 1859, the trustees examined a lot of land proposed to be do-
nated by J. M. Gallent, a member of the Board of Trustees, and selected a site
for the "Buildings." The lot examined is probably the same twenty-five-acre
lot on which the Female Dormitory is located and which was donated to the
trustees on April 21, 1867, by James M. Gallent and his wife. At least two of
the school buildings had been constructed by December 24, 1861, at which time
the trustees considered 'the propriety of leasing the Institute Buildings to
the Principal." Certainly the style and construction elements of the Female
Dormitory are consistent with a construction date of between 1859 and 1861.
The traditional construction date of 1859 receives support from the fact that
the school was accepting students by January 7, 1860, and was evidently open
for business at that time. The builder is reputed to be the same as the un-
known builder of the ca. 1855 Bethany Presbyterian Church. The school records
contain only a passing mention on March 31, 1860, of the need to settle the
account between the Rev. T. D. Lea, who had just resigned as principal, and
a Mr. Wall, who might have been the contractor for construction.

The trustees' record book indicates that the school was open for classes
during 1860 and 1861. A handbill advertising the second session to commence
on October 6, 1862, belies the supposition, based on the fact that the record
book contains no entries for trustees' meetings between December, 1861, and
September, 1869, that the school was closed between those dates. The handbill
lists classes in several English branches, Latin, Greek, French, and music,
taught under the principalship of the Rev. S. B, Hall. For at least one
scholastic year, ending August 31, 1874, Bethany Institute was certified as a
public school of Amite County. Newspaper advertisements from the 1880s in-
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7 - DESCRIPTION

A one-story frame commercial building, probably dating from the first
half of the twentieth century, occupies the southwest corner of the driveway
and the public road. Its gable end, protected by an attached shed roof porch,
faces the gravel road. The frame is covered by sheets of corrugated metal.

8 - SIGNIFICANCE

dicate that the school was once again a private institution and that there
were between 35 and 100 pupils at that time enrolled in the grammar course,

the music course, and the higher English and language courses. The school
must have continued to operate after 1890, for several area residents who
attended classes there are still living. In 1918 the school land and buildings
were sold for use as a private residence, and is so occupied by the owners
today.

9 - MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Records of Bethany Institute, Collection of Bethany Presbyterian Church,
in private keeping, available from Mr. and Mrs. William D. Aldridge.

10 - GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

road, thence south 46 degrees to the center of Clinton Road, thence south
9-1/2 degrees to a stake, thence east to the section line, thence north 30
degrees east to the place of beginning on the south bank of the old Liberty
Road; #3 - a strip of land in Section 42 containing a fraction of an acre,
more or less, lying south of the presently located gravel road (01d Highway
48) now running across the northwest corner of the northwest quarter of
Section 42, and lying north of the center of the old gravel road now abandoned
and lying east of a parcel of land conveyed M. S. Hassell. It being understood
that said strip of land was caused by the relocation of the gravel road which
left a strip lying between the E. A. Y. Dixon place and the new location of
the gravel road which belonged to the L. M. Gallent estate.
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